ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Circuit Court erred when it denied the Petitioners' motions and renewed motions for judgment as a matter of law because neither a verdict nor judgment pursuant to a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 excessive force claim can be had against unidentified "John Doe(s)," claims made pursuant to § 1983 cannot attribute liability to a municipality under vicarious or *respondeat superior* liability, the Respondent should not have been permitted to exceed the applicable statute of limitations and through trial with her § 1983 claim against unidentified "John Doe(s)," and neither the City of Clarksburg nor its potential insurance carrier can be responsible for a judgment against "John Doe(s)."
- 2. The Circuit Court erred when it awarded attorney fees to the Respondent after she was permitted to improperly obtain a verdict and judgment pursuant to her 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim against unidentified, uncollectable "John Doe(s)" and when the Circuit Court implied that the City of Clarksburg or its potential insurance carrier can be responsible for such fees assessed against "John Doe(s)."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying civil action against the Petitioners, Scott Vinson, the City of Clarksburg¹,

and other "John Doe(s)"², arose from an alleged incident following the Respondent's, Rosa Lee

Butcher's, lawful arrest in Harrison County, West Virginia.

A. Factual Background

On the night of September 29, 2013, officers with the City of Clarksburg Police Department

("CPD") responded on two separate occasions to two 911 calls from Ms. Butcher's neighbors.

(App. 46.) The first call was in response to Ms. Butcher having allegedly committed a disturbance

with her neighbors at or about 10:45 pm. (Id.) After attempting to defuse the altercation between

Ms. Butcher, her neighbors, and her adult son, officers instructed Ms. Butcher to return to her home

¹ The Petitioner, the City of Clarksburg, is inclusive of the Clarksburg City Police Department for purposes of this appeal. Pursuant to the Circuit Court's March 24, 2017, Order, the Clarksburg City Police Department, an original defendant in the matter below, was dismissed due to it being an agency within the City of Clarksburg. (App. 254-55.) Pursuant to W. Va. R.A.P. 38(b), the Clarksburg City Police Department remains on the style of the case.

 $^{^2}$ The Petitioners present their appeal on behalf of the dismissed parties (The City of Clarksburg), the party found not to be at fault at trial (Scott Vinson), and the unnamed and fictitious "John Doe(s)" to the extent necessary in order to protect the interests of all Petitioners potentially made responsible for the judgment and the award of attorney fees in the matter.

and not return to the street. (*Id.*) Subsequently, at or about 11:16 pm, officers were called back to the same location, again in response to allegations of Ms. Butcher committing a disturbance with her neighbors.³ (*Id.*) Upon the officers responding for the second time, Ms. Butcher was placed under arrest, charging her with three counts of Assault, one count of Obstructing, one count of Disorderly Conduct, one count of Domestic Assault, and one count of Failure to Provide Finger Prints. (App. 46, 52, 65.)

Ms. Butcher was processed at the CPD. Following her arrest, Ms. Butcher alleged that a member of the CPD tased her while she was in police custody at the station. (App. 6, \P 13.) Ms. Butcher alleged that the use of the taser caused her to pass out, that she went into convulsions while passed out, and that she incurred bruising as a result. (App. 6, \P 14.) The Petitioners maintain that these acts never occurred.

CPD officers on duty on the night at issue were identified as Christopher Harris, Zachary Lantz, Scott Vinson, Walter Scott Williams, and Chris Willis. (App. 96.) These same officers were identified by the Petitioners during discovery (App. 96-97) and were identified by Ms. Butcher as potential witnesses for trial (App. 109-11, 112-14.)

Following the arrival of Ms. Butcher at the police department for processing, and following her refusal to provide fingerprints, Ms. Butcher was transported to the North Central Regional Jail. (App. 42.) Upon arrival at the Jail, Ms. Butcher was unable to respond coherently to jail staff's questioning, and it "appeared that she was heavily intoxicated." (App. 80-81.) Per protocol, she was transported to United Hospital Center ("UHC") in Clarksburg, West Virginia, where she was treated and where she was observed to have had a 0.349 blood alcohol content level. (App. 73-77.)

³ Specifically, officers were called to respond to allegations that Ms. Butcher was outside of her residence pounding a shovel on the ground, allegedly attempting to strike her neighbors with the same, and seemingly talking to herself and threatening others at the location. (Id.)

CPD officers, including, at one point, arresting officer Scott Vinson, remained with Ms. Butcher at UHC until her release the following day, upon which she was transported by Scott Vinson to the Magistrate Court. (App. 42.)

Approximately one year later, in October 2014, Ms. Butcher filed a complaint with the CPD, alleging that she had been tased during her processing the year prior. (App. 83-90.) An internal investigation was performed by the CPD, which included an interview of Ms. Butcher, arresting officer Scott Vinson, and the remaining officers identified as being on duty at the station on the night of Ms. Butcher's arrest. (App. 83-85.) Importantly, the four officers identified for questioning during this pre-suit investigation were Scott Vinson, Christopher Harris, Zachary Lantz, and Walter Scott Williams. (*Id.*) All officers who were interviewed denied witnessing or participating in any "tasing" of Ms. Butcher. (*Id.*) An examination of all department-issued tasers showed that no deployment of any CPD officers' respective devices was recorded at the time Ms. Butcher alleged she was tased. (App. 86-89.)

During the investigation, Ms. Butcher was interviewed and identified Zachary Lantz or Christopher Harris as the individual officers she believed may have been responsible for using a taser on her. (App. 85-86.) The internal investigation concluded that Ms. Butcher's claims were unsubstantiated based upon the evidence. (App. 90.)

B. Procedural Background

Based upon these same allegations, Ms. Butcher filed suit in the Circuit Court of Harrison County on September 25, 2015, nearly two years from the date of her arrest, alleging State and Federal Constitutional violations, violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and common law claims of Battery, Negligence, and "Other Torts." (App. 1-14.) Ms. Butcher brought these claims against the named arresting officer, Scott Vinson; the City of Clarksburg; the City of Clarksburg Police Department⁴; and other "John Doe(s)." (App. 1-14.)

The Circuit Court entered a Scheduling Order for this matter on April 15, 2016, which set a July 1, 2016, deadline for the filing of all motions to amend pleadings. (App. 31-40.) No motions to amend the pleadings were ever filed by Ms. Butcher prior to trial, and "John Doe(s)" remained in the style of the case up to and throughout trial.

Before trial, Ms. Butcher conducted only limited discovery regarding the incident at issue itself. (App. 91-108.) In July 2016, the Petitioners responded to Ms. Butcher's Interrogatories and fully identified all officers on duty on the night of the alleged tasing incident. (App. 96-97.) Ms. Butcher chose to take only the deposition of the arresting officer, Scott Vinson, and only questioned the other officers and potential witnesses at the trial itself. (App. 343-594.) No follow-up discovery was conducted by Ms. Butcher as it related to the identity of "John Doe(s)."⁵ However, during her deposition, Ms. Butcher repeatedly identified Patrolman Zachary Lantz as the individual she recalled tasing her. (App. 229, 1. 20; 230, 1. 7; 231, 11. 19-20; 233, 11. 11-16; 240, 1. 17; 241, 1. 24 – 242, 1. 1; 243, 1. 10.)

On April 10, 2017, a hearing addressing outstanding issues was conducted following Ms. Butcher's April 7, 2017, Motion to Continue the Trial. (App. 296-299.) Within the "Order from Hearing of April 10, 2017," it was established that

> At this time, counsel for the Plaintiff represented to the Court that the Plaintiff will withdraw her Negligence claims as originally alleged in her Complaint. The Plaintiff indicated that liability issue to be presented to the jury will be based solely on her Constitutional

⁴ See FN 1, supra.

⁵ A second set of discovery requests were served by Ms. Butcher in August 2016, but the inquiries therein requested information focused on the unrelated misconduct allegations of one of the officers. Because that information is not pertinent to this appeal, and because of the sensitive nature of the allegations upon which Ms. Butcher wished to discover, those materials have not been included in the Appendix. Limitations on the information gained as part of that discovery were ruled upon by the Circuit Court as evidenced within its March 24, 2017, pre-trial Order addressing Ms. Butcher's "Motion to Admit Testimony to Untruthfulness of Witness." (App. 248-49.)

and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims concerning the allegation of Excessive Force. No objections to this request were raised by the Defendants. Therefore, the Court hereby ORDERS that only claims relating to the alleged Excessive Force employed by officers of the Clarksburg Police Department during the arrest and processing of the Plaintiff Rosa Lee Butcher on the night of September 29, 2013, will be tried in this matter and that all Negligence claims are hereby abandoned.

(App. 297, ¶ 4.) The Court further continued the trial. (App. 296.)

The Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment was partially considered during a March 24, 2017, pre-trial hearing, which sought the dismissal of all named parties. (App. 117-52.) Due to the continuation of the trial, the Circuit Court permitted a rehearing of the Petitioners' motion. (App. 298, ¶8.) On May 8, 2017, the Petitioners provided to the Court their reply to Ms. Butcher's response to the Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment, further arguing for the dismissal of "John Doe(s)," among other arguments. (App. 263-95.) During the May 15, 2017, re-hearing, the Court heard further arguments calling for the removal of "John Doe(s)" and the remaining parties. (App. 307-37.) The Petitioners' Motion was denied at that time. (App. 338-42.)

A jury trial in this case was conducted June 5, 2017, through June 9, 2017. (App. 343-1017.) Upon Ms. Butcher closing her case in chief on June 7, 2017, the Petitioners made a motion pursuant to W. Va. R. Civ. P. 50(a), moving for the dismissal of "John Doe(s)," Scott Vinson, and the City of Clarksburg as a matter of law. (App. 838-58.) The Court denied the Petitioner's motion, and upon the Petitioners resting their case in chief, the Petitioners again moved for the dismissal of the parties, including "John Doe(s)" pursuant to Rule 50(b). (App. 984-90.)

On the morning of June 8, 2017, the Circuit Court granted the Petitioners' Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law in part and denied in part, and the City of Clarksburg was dismissed from the case in whole. (App. 996.) At the close of the trial on June 8, 2017, the jury was presented with several questions on the final verdict form. (App. 1049-50.) First, the Jury was asked, "Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that one or more of the Clarksburg Police Officers used excessive force on the Plaintiff, Rosa Lee Butcher, on the evening of September 29, 2013?" The jury indicated "Yes" in response to this inquiry. (App. 1049.) The jury then was asked, "Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that the use of excessive force by any Clarksburg Police Officers proximately caused injury or damages to Ms. Butcher?" The jury indicated "Yes" in response to this inquiry. (*Id.*) The jury then was asked, "Please mark the name or names of the Clarksburg Police Officers who used excessive force on Ms. Butcher." (*Id.*) The jury was presented with two options in response to this inquiry: "Scott Vinson" or "John Doe(s)." (*Id.*) Only "John Doe(s)" was marked by the jury in response to this question. (*Id.*) The jury awarded \$5,000.00 for compensatory damages for the alleged actions of "John Doe(s)." (App. 1050.)

On June 19, 2017, following the verdict, the Petitioners filed their Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law Regarding Claims against "John Doe(s)." (App. 1059-66.) Ms. Butcher's initial response to that motion was filed on July 14, 2017 (App. 1067-74), and the Petitioners replied on July 31, 2017. (App. 1087-1251.) Ms. Butcher then responded to the Petitioners' reply on September 26, 2017. (App. 1252-57.)

During the time of these filings related to the Petitioners' Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law, on July 14, 2017, the Petitioners received a copy of an invoice and an affidavit from Ms. Butcher's counsel, which provided a summary of his expenses and attorney fees. (App. 1084-85.) The Petitioners responded to that submission on July 24, 2017 (App. 1075-86) and subsequently filed an appeal with this Honorable Court but was advised that a final decision on the merits as to all issues and all parties had not been achieved. (App. 1282.) On September 26, 2017, Ms. Butcher submitted a response to the Petitioners' opposition to Ms. Butcher's submission for an award of attorney fees. (App. 1258-81.)

On September 28, 2017, the Circuit Court conducted a hearing regarding both the issues of the Petitioners' renewed motion for judgment and Ms. Butcher's request for attorney fees, ultimately taking the Petitioners' Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law Regarding Claims Against "John Doe" under advisement and further instructing Ms. Butcher to submit additional documentation in support of her motion for attorney fees. (App. 1283-87.) Based upon the prior submissions and the additional materials, the Petitioners' filed their renewed opposition to Ms. Butcher's submission for award of attorney fees on November 27, 2017. (App. 1288-98.) On December 18, 2017, the Court issued its "Order Denying Defendants' Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law Regarding Claims Against 'John Doe(s)'" and instructing that the Order was "not a final order because this Court must still address the attorney fees issue." (App. 1299-1310.)

Ms. Butcher then submitted her Motion to Award Amended Attorney Fee Request and Response to Defendants' Renewed Opposition to Plaintiff's Submission for Award of Attorney Fees on February 27, 2018. (App. 1311-33). The Petitioners responded to the same on March 14, 2018 (App. 1334-49), and Ms. Butcher filed her rebuttal on March 21, 2018 (App. 1350-57), to which the Petitioners responded on March 29, 2018 (App. 1358-65). A second hearing on this issue of attorney fees was finally set for September 27, 2018, before which the Petitioners submitted a final supplemental filing prior to the hearing on the same. (App. 1366-93.)

On January 16, 2019, the Circuit Court issued its "Order Granting Plaintiff's Submission for Award of Attorney Fees," reducing the amount of claimed fees and costs, and acknowledging that all issues existing between the parties was decided, and that the Order was a "final appealable order." (App. 1394-1405). The Petitioners timely filed their Notice of Appeal on February 13,

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioners' assignments of error center on the errors committed by the Circuit Court when it permitted unidentified John Doe defendants to remain as parties to the litigation past all applicable statute of limitations, past the Court's own deadlines for amending pleadings, past Summary Judgment, past the Petitioners repeated Motions for Judgment as a matter of law, and through to a jury verdict, where the jury found liability only against "John Doe(s)."

As a result of the Circuit Court's two-part post-trial orders, the Petitioners are being assessed an improper reallocation of liability, which is seemingly being shifted to the dismissed or non-liable parties and/or their insurance carrier. Because the only issue submitted to the jury was a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim of excessive force, the Petitioners appeal the Circuit Court's Orders to the extent they assert liability or attempt to assess damages against the City of Clarksburg, arresting officer Scott Vinson, and/or their respective insurance carrier, the latter of which was never part of the litigation below. Together, the two orders serve as the basis for the Petitioners' two assignments of error.

Despite being afforded all of the tools of the discovery process, Ms. Butcher never attempted to amend her pleadings at any time prior to trial in order to identify properly who "John Doe(s)" might have been. Because of this, Ms. Butcher pursued a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim of excessive force against unknown, unnamed, and unserved individuals who were never afforded an opportunity to defend their interests at trial. Permitting a complaining party to proceed with a claim against an unidentified individual in a 42 U.S.C § 1983 claim almost four years after an alleged incident occurred dishonors the clear purpose and intent of our statute of limitations and pleading requirements.

The City of Clarksburg was rightfully dismissed from this action, and the only claim that was before the jury was for a violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for an alleged claim of excessive force. Neither the City of Clarksburg nor Scott Vinson can be liable to pay the judgment of \$5,000.00 in compensatory damages for the alleged actions of "John Doe(s)" and, by correlation, cannot be made responsible for an award of attorney fees for an improperly tried claim of § 1983.

A judgment against the fictitious "John Doe(s)" for an alleged violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is unsupported by our Rules and by precedent. Moreover, any effort to require that an employer be held responsible for a § 1983 claim that is brought against an unidentified employee only acts to improperly circumvent the clear bar against *respondeat superior* theories of liability. Public policy dictates that permitting a complaining party to proceed with a claim against an unidentified individual almost four years after an alleged incident occurred dishonors the clear purpose and intent of our statute of limitations and pleading requirements.

To the extent that the Circuit Court's orders are deemed to establish that the dismissed and/or non-liable parties are responsible for payment of the award and fees, the Circuit Court erred when it permitted Ms. Butcher to proceed with her 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim against unidentified "John Doe(s)" past the applicable statute of limitations and through trial to a jury verdict. Because Ms. Butcher failed to establish a proper claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against an individual official, any finding of judgment or accompanying attorney fees against "John Doe(s)" is improper and erroneous. Therefore, this Court should reverse (1) the Circuit Court's "Order Denying Defendants' Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law Regarding Claims Against 'John Doe(s)''' and (2) to the extent it attempts to allocate liability or damages against any one or more of the Petitioners, the Circuit Court's "Order Granting Plaintiff's Submission for Award of Attorney Fees."

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Because of the nature of the errors alleged and the fundamental public importance of the Circuit Court's errors, the Petitioners believe that this case presents an issue proper for consideration by oral argument pursuant to W. Va. R.A.P. 20.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

"The appellate standard of review for an order granting or denying a renewed motion for a judgment as a matter of law after trial pursuant to Rule 50(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure [1998] is *de novo*." Syl. Pt. 1, *Fredeking v. Tyler*, 224 W. Va. 1, 680 S.E.2d 16, 17

(2009).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE PETITIONERS' MOTIONS AND RENEWED MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW BECAUSE NEITHER A VERDICT NOR JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO A 42 U.S.C. § 1983 EXCESSIVE FORCE CLAIM CAN BE HAD AGAINST UNIDENTIFIED "JOHN DOE(S)," CLAIMS MADE PURSUANT TO § 1983 CANNOT ATTRIBUTE LIABILITY TO A MUNICIPALITY UNDER VICARIOUS OR *RESPONDEAT SUPERIOR* LIABILITY, THE RESPONDENT SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN PERMITTED TO EXCEED THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND THROUGH TRIAL WITH HER § 1983 CLAIM AGAINST UNIDENTIFIED "JOHN DOE(S)," AND NEITHER THE CITY OF CLARKSBURG NOR ITS POTENTIAL INSURANCE CARRIER CAN BE RESPONSIBLE FOR A JUDGMENT AGAINST "JOHN DOE(S)."

Within the Circuit Court's "Order Denying Defendants' Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law Regarding Claims Against 'John Doe(s)'" (App. 1299-1310), the Court sets forth several findings that erroneously attempt to find liability against a fictitious and unidentified "John Doe(s)" and/or the dismissed City of Clarksburg and/or Scott Vinson. The Circuit Court's conclusions are in error and ignore the underlying principle that "John Doe(s)" is not a proper party for a claim being pursued under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

A. The Circuit Court erred in permitting the only remaining claim of a violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 to move forward through a liability determination and a judgment assessment against "John Doe(s)."

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