FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET No. 19-0132

Scott Vinson and the City of Clarksburg City Police Dept., Defendants Below, Petitioners,

v.

Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Harrison County (15-C-387-3)

Rosa Lee Butcher, Plaintiff Below, Respondent

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Counsel for Respondent,

Timothy V. Gentilozzi, Esq. (WV Bar #10086) Counsel of Record 547 W. Pike St. Clarksburg, WV 26301 304-669-5826 304-626-2030(fax) tg@iolinc.net JUN 2 4 2019

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

Respondent was left with no alternative but to proceed against John Doe and when Petitioners were offered the chance to substitute the additional officers name in

place of John Doe, they objected. This left us with a verdict form that contained the arresting officer Scott Vinson and John Doe, a Clarksburg City Police Officer which was never objected to by Petitioners. Petitioners wanted the verdict form to contain Scott Vinson and John Doe, but now complain that the verdict against John Doe is improper.

C. Petitioners had no incentive to identify John Doe throughout this five year process, both pre and post trial, as identifying John Doe would only subject Petitioners, including the City of Clarksburg and their insurer, to legal liability including paying monetary damages including statutory attorney fees to Respondent.

Petitioners have never displayed any motivation to help Respondent identify her attacker. The Circuit Court deemed the Petitioners to be playing a "shell game" throughout the litigation as they have continually denied the event ever occurred, which is contrary to many of the cited cases in their brief, but then argue that Respondent has missed the statute of limitations for failing to name John Doe.

Petitioners cited Respondent's inability to name her attacker during the trial was a direct result of her gross intoxication claiming the event never occurred as Respondent had claimed and that no officer tased her. Now post verdict, Petitioners are arguing that the identity of Respondent's attacker was discoverable and that she failed to conduct enough discovery to locate someone Petitioner contends doesn't exist.

Petitioners, namely the City of Clarksburg, failed to call in an outside agency namely the WV State Police as they had done in the recent past to investigate other officers on the force including Vinson¹, but instead kept the investigation internal when investigating Respondent's formal claim she made to the Clarksburg Police Department one year before her statute of limitations expired.

¹ The investigation into Officer Vinson on an unrelated matter lead to him being no longer employed by the Clarksburg Police Department by the time the case was tried but the jury was precluded from learning about it due to rulings from the Circuit Court prior to trial.

Petitioner, the City of Clarksburg, through its internal investigation team spent nearly 3 times interviewing Respondent than all four police officers on duty that night combined. It became apparent during the trial that not much effort went into investigating who may have been responsible for attacking Respondent as no experts were retained by Petitioners to examine the photographs of the taser injury sustained by Respondent.

Respondent's expert, a retired Pennsylvania State Seargent, testified by through deposition and at trial that he believed the injuries sustained by Respondent were caused by a taser which was never rebutted by Petitioners through any qualified expert testimony. (App. 326 ¶3-12, 329 ¶6-20.)

D. Respondent asserts the Circuit Court was correct that the failure of the City of Clarksburg to preserve key videotape evidence in this matter contributed to Respondent's inability to name her attacker thus prejudicing her in this matter.

Respondent asserts in her complaint that she was tased by an unidentified Clarksburg City Police Officer in the booking room when she refused to provide fingerprints. Respondent, due to being heavily intoxicated and being attacked with a taser, has vague recollections of the events that occurred in that room but remembers being threatened and then tased. Petitioners charged Respondent with crimes including refusing to provide prints as contained in the criminal complaint in this matter where they describe Respondent has highly combative and refusing to provide prints. Petitioners admit that videotape of the events that led to her being charged with obstruction and refusing to provide fingerprints existed as these areas in the station are under surveillance but instead only preserved the videotape of Respondent's transport to the North Central Regional Jail. (App. 106, 323) The Circuit Court and Respondent's expert asserted that

the videotapes of the Respondent's behavior at the station was the "best evidence" of her alleged criminal behavior and should have been preserved for use in her criminal trial.

(App. 334). The Circuit Court noted that Petitioners' failure to preserve those videos have contributed to Respondent's inability to name her attacker, and the Circuit Court's ruling allowing the case to proceed against John Doe was proper under these circumstances.

E. Petitioners should not be rewarded for playing what the Circuit Court termed a "shell game" as Petitioners' argument that Respondent loses because of her inability to name her attacker is extremely self serving. Additionally, as in Jutrowski, Respondent may have an additional cause of action against the City of Clarksburg and unnamed John Does under 42 U.S.C. §1983 for violating her right to due process through what Respondent believes is an ongoing conspiracy to conceal the identity of John Doe post verdict in an attempt to prevent her from collecting on her judgment.

Respondent is asking the Court to deny Petitioners request to prevent her from collecting the judgment in this matter as Petitioners played a "shell game" throughout this litigation and should not be rewarded. Petitioners, including the City of Clarksburg and their insurer, have taken no responsibility after the verdict for the attack perpetrated on Respondent, but instead choose to use the existence of John Doe as a shield against paying the verdict and award of attorney fees in this matter. Instead of calling in the WV State Police to assist in finding the identity of John Doe in this matter, Petitioners have taken the extremely self serving position that Respondent's inability to name her attacker means she loses and will never collect on the judgment. The honorable thing for a municipality like the City of Clarksburg to do would be take responsibility that one of their officers used excessive force on a 47 year old woman in handcuffs and pay the judgment in this matter, but nothing the Petitioners' have done so far has even been close

to honorable. Respondent asserts that these self serving actions by Petitioners, including making no effort to find her attacker after the verdict was rendered, is further evidence of a conspiracy conceal the identity of John Doe for purposes of preventing Respondent from collecting on the judgment. Much like the cause of action cited in Jutrowski, Respondent believes she has the option to file another case against the City of Clarksburg for violating her right to due process.

Petitioners use of Jutrowski and other similar cases to show that John Doe defendants are never allowed as defendants in §1983 is misguided. There are serious factual differences that differentiate this case from Jutrowski and the lineage of cases cited by Petitioners. First, Petitioners denied that the event Respondent alleges ever occurred. In Jutrowski, the municipality acknowledged that the event did occur and admitted to excessive force, but denied knowing which of the four officers attacked the Plaintiff causing him to break his nose and fracture his eye socket. The court in that case in dismissing the claims against the four officers cited the "personal involvement" doctrine holding that if Plaintiff can't show "personal involvement" by detailing which officer committed excessive force then its improper to name all four of them individually in a shotgun approach as only one of them could be responsible for the injury to Mr. Jutrowski. The Court in Jutrowski dismissed the claims against the officers individually but remanded the case back to proceed on the conspiracy count under §1983 which still in effect kept the case alive. The ruling by the Court in Jutrowski did not affect the Plaintiff's ability to proceed other than not being able to name the four potential targets as defendants. Petitioners cite the case as if the ruling by the Court ended Jutrowski's case which is not accurate as counsel for Jutrowski was able to go back and prove there

was a conspiracy to conceal the identity of John Doe to deny Mr. Jutrowski access to the Courts.

In this case, Respondent made an informed choice not to utilize the shotgun approach utilized in Jutrowski but instead focus solely on a claim against the arresting officer and John Doe, a Clarksburg City Police Officer. Through discovery, the Circuit Court learned that a key video of the event was not preserved by the City of Clarksburg and failure to preserve the video resulted in Respondent being unable to identify her attacker. This fact scenario makes this case different from all the cases cited by Petitioners in their brief which renders their analysis to be irrelevant as the facts involved in this case make it unique. Additionally, the position taken by Petitioners that the event in question never occurred also make it unique from all the other cases cited in Petitioners' brief as none of those cases involve the defense that the Plaintiff made up her story due to extreme intoxication or malicious intent.

Finally, the Circuit Court detailed, in a court order denying Petitioners Motion for Summary Judgment, the criteria they used to find that John Doe was a proper party and that Respondent had provided enough evidence to the jury to prove John Doe was a Clarksburg City Police Officers acting in his official role when he deprived Respondent of her constitutional rights. The use of John Doe in this matter was essential to hold the John Doe actors accountable and to fulfill the purpose of §1983 litigation which is to deter state actors from using badges to deprive people like Respondent of her rights. Additionally, the Court found the testimony of the individual police officers at trial to be inconsistent further supporting the jury's verdict. (App. 1299-1305)

II. The Circuit Court did not err when it ruled that insurance coverage exists to pay the judgment including statutory

attorney fees

Petitioners' argument that the Circuit Court erred by ruling that insurance coverage exists to cover the verdict in this matter is part of a continued pattern of not taking responsibility for the damages caused by their insured, the City of Clarksburg, and one of their employees, John Doe. The continual refusal by Petitioner to take any accountability or responsibility for the attack that occurred on Respondent is mind boggling. The attack occurred in September 2013 nearly six years ago and the Petitioners, namely the City of Clarksburg and their insurance company, have failed to take any reasonable steps to resolve this case prior to trial and now are asking relief from the Court to prevent Respondent from collecting on her judgment. The Circuit Court properly balanced the interest of all involved within the bounds of the law.

A. Counsel for Petitioners assured the Circuit Court that insurance coverage would remain for the remaining defendants when counsel pleaded with the Circuit Court to dismiss the City of Clarksburg as a party.

The Circuit Court relied on the representations of counsel for Petitioners that insurance coverage would remain to cover any verdicts in the matter when the Circuit Court dismissed the City of Clarksburg as party prior to the conclusion of the trial. (App. 1305.) Respondent argues the Circuit Court acted reasonably and that Petitioners objection post verdict as to this issue of insurance coverage is without merit. The Circuit Court can weigh many factors when deciding to dismiss a party especially one that has been found to be playing a shell game and failing to preserve key videotape evidence in the matter. To ensure that the other defendants namely City of Clarksburg Police Officers have insurance coverage before dismissing the City of Clarksburg is not a shock to the conscious or an abuse of power by the Circuit Court. One would expect that

insurance would exist to cover any potential verdicts against a Clarksburg City Police Officer especially when counsel for the insurance company assures the Circuit Court they have coverage in response to concerns from the Circuit Court that defendant officers would be left "holding the bag" if no insurance existed after the City of Clarksburg was dismissed. (App. 1301-1305.)

B. Petitioners' repeated claim that the issue of insurance coverage was never before the Circuit Court is not correct as the Circuit Court relied on Counsel for Petitoners' affirmation that coverage would remain when dismissing the City of Clarksburg as a named defendant

In continuing with the theme of taking no responsibility, Petitioners are taking on responsibility for assuring the Circuit Court that insurance coverage would exist for the remaining defendants as if they didn't say it in the middle of a hearing on their motion to dismiss the City of Clarksburg as a named defendant. (App. 1301-1305.)

When the Circuit Court raised the issue of insurance coverage during Petitioners' motion to dismiss the City of Clarksburg, that issue is then before the Court especially one as important as insurance coverage for police officers accused of wrongdoing.

Respondent argues that Petitioners lack credibility for perpetuating such a frivolous argument.

C. Petitioners' reversal on the issue of insurance coverage for the remaining defendants raises serious ethical issues involving dishonesty and candor with the tribunal

There is an old saying that your word should stand for something and Petitioners' word to the Circuit Court that insurance coverage would remain for the remaining defendants after the City of Clarksburg was dismissed should carry significant weight.

Respondent argues that Petitioners' reversal on this most important issue after procuring

21

the dismissal for their client, the City of Clarksburg, creates serious ethical issues involving honesty and candor with the tribunal. Respondent asserts that Petitioners reversal on this key issue undermines the entire judicial process. It also calls into question their integrity and their motives in assuring the Circuit Court insurance would remain just to procure the dismissal of their client as a named defendant. Once they achieved their stated goal of having their client, the City of Clarksburg, dismissed, they want to renege on their promise that insurance coverage would remain. Again, Respondent argues that the Court should deny Petitioners attempts to deny Respondent the ability to collect on the judgment by finding that insurance coverage does exist to pay the verdict and corresponding attorney fees in this matter.

D. The Circuit Court warned Petitioners of the impending statutory attorney fee award associated with a possible verdict in this matter. Petitioners failed to mitigate their risk by only offering \$2000 to resolve the matter at trial while the jury was deliberating when Respondent had incurred approximately \$8000 in litigation costs bringing the case to trial

The costs being imposed upon Petitioners as part of jury's verdict should come as no surprise to them as the Circuit Court was clear in their warnings to Petitioners that any verdict against them would trigger statutory attorney fees, but they ignored all warnings and proceeded to trial. Petitioners were extremely willing to take these risks even after being warned by the Court on multiple occasions. Respondent engaged in multiple mediations in this matter in good faith attempt to resolve the issues prior to trial including proper compensation. After two mediations, the best offer Petitioners made to Respondent to resolve the case was \$2000 and no money for her attorney fees. At trial,

Petitioners never increased their offer above \$2000 knowing that Respondent had incurred significant expense including \$4500 in expert witness fees. (App. 334-335.)

E. The insurance adjuster was present at key hearings in this matter including at trial where Counsel for Petitioners in the underlying case assured the Circuit Court that insurance coverage would exist for the remaining defendants. At no time did anyone associated with the Petitioners object or correct on the record that there would be no insurance coverage until after the verdict was rendered which Respondent argues is a waiver as to this issue

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